COLLECTIVE BARGAINING AGREEMENT

BETWEEN

THE TOWN OF PORTLAND

and

LOCAL 506, SEIU/MEUI LIBRARY UNIT

July 1, 2016 to June 30, 2019

TABLE OF CONTENTS

| ARTICLE 1 - PREAMBLE | 1 |
|---|----|
| ARTICLE 2 - RECOGNITION | 1 |
| ARTICLE 3 - DEFINITIONS | 1 |
| ARTICLE 4 - UNION RIGHTS | 2 |
| ARTICLE 5 - MANAGEMENT RIGHTS | 3 |
| ARTICLE 6 - NO STRIKE OR LOCKOUT | 4 |
| ARTICLE 7 - SAVINGS CLAUSE | 4 |
| ARTICLE 8 - DISCIPLINE | 4 |
| ARTICLE 9 - GRIEVANCE PROCEDURE | 7 |
| ARTICLE 10 - SENIORITY | 8 |
| ARTICLE 11 - VACANCY | 10 |
| ARTICLE 12 - LEAVE PROVISIONS | 11 |
| ARTICLE 13 - INSURANCE AND PENSION | 15 |
| ARTICLE 14 - WAGES | 18 |
| ARTICLE 15 - HOURS OF WORK AND OVERTIME | 19 |
| ARTICLE 16 - PROFESSIONAL DEVELOPMENT | 20 |
| ARTICLE 17 - LONGEVITY | 20 |
| ARTICLE 18 - NON-DISCRIMINATION | 21 |
| ARTICLE 19 - DURATION | 21 |
| APPENDIX A | 22 |
| APPENDIX B | 30 |
| APPENDIX C | 38 |
| APPENDIX D | 42 |

ARTICLE 1 - PREAMBLE

<u>Section 1</u>. This Agreement is made and entered into by and between the Town of Portland (hereinafter referred to as "Town" or "Employer") and the Municipal Employees Union Independent (hereinafter "Union").

ARTICLE 2 - RECOGNITION

<u>Section 1</u>. Per certification in Connecticut State Board of Labor Relations Case No. ME-24,985, the Town of Portland herein recognizes the Municipal Employees Union Independent, Inc., as the exclusive bargaining representative for the purposes of collective bargaining with respect to wages, hours and other conditions of employment for all employees of the Portland Library working fifteen or more hours a week excluding the Library Director, Assistant Director, Library Administrative Assistant and any other employees excluded by MERA.

<u>Section 2</u>. If the Town creates any new job classifications which might be included in the Bargaining Unit during the life of this Agreement, it shall notify the Union, as to discuss inclusion or exclusion. Any disagreements regarding inclusion or exclusion shall be resolved utilizing applicable procedures of the State Board of Labor Relations.

ARTICLE 3 - DEFINITIONS

- <u>Section 1</u>. The term "Town" when used throughout this Agreement shall mean the Town of Portland.
- <u>Section 2</u>. The term "Union" when used throughout this Agreement shall mean the Municipal Employees Union Independent.
- <u>Section 3</u>. The term "employee" when used throughout this Agreement shall mean an employee in the bargaining unit.
- <u>Section 4</u>. The term "full-time employee" when used throughout this Agreement shall mean bargaining unit employees who are regularly scheduled to work thirty-five (35) or more hours per week.
- <u>Section 5</u>. The term "regular part-time employee" when used throughout this Agreement shall mean bargaining unit employees who are regularly scheduled to work at least thirty (30) but less than thirty-five (35) hours per week.
- <u>Section 6</u>. The term "part-time employee" when used throughout this Agreement shall mean bargaining unit employees who are regularly scheduled to work under thirty (30) hours per week.

<u>Section 7</u>. Job classifications shall be defined as follows:

- 1. Library Assistant I
- 2. Library Assistant II
- 3. Library Associate I (Youth Services Assistant)
- 4. Library Associate II
- 5. Librarian I (MLS degree required)
- 6. Librarian II (MLS degree required)

ARTICLE 4 - UNION RIGHTS

<u>Section 1</u>. The employer shall deal exclusively with the Union designated stewards or staff representatives in the processing of grievances or any other aspect of the contract administration, unless an individual or group of employees express the desire to have the grievance adjusted without intervention of the Union. In such case, the grievance shall be adjusted consistent with the terms and conditions of this agreement and the Union shall be given prompt notice of such adjustment.

Section 2. During the terms of this contract or extension thereof, all employees in the Collective Bargaining Unit shall, from the effective date of the contract or within thirty (30) days from the date of their employment by the Town, as a condition of employment, either become or remain members of the Union in good standing or, in lieu of Union membership, pay to the Union a service fee. The amount of service fees shall not exceed the minimum applicable dues paid to the Union consistent with law.

<u>Section 3</u>. The Town agrees to deduct from the pay of the bargaining unit members such membership dues, initiation fees, service fees, or reinstatement of service fees as may be fixed by the Union, provided that the Town has written authorizations from such bargaining unit members to make such deductions. Such deductions shall continue for the duration of the Agreement or any extension thereof.

No payroll deductions of dues shall be made during a payroll period in which the employee's earnings are insufficient to cover the amount of the deduction, nor shall such be made from subsequent payrolls to cover the period in question.

<u>Section 4</u>. The Union shall supply to the Town written notice at least thirty (30) days prior to the effective date of any change in rates of fees and dues. In addition, the Union shall furnish the Town with a statement signed by the employee authorizing the Town to make dues deduction(s). Service fees shall be deducted automatically by the Town.

<u>Section 5</u>. The payment of Union fees and dues or service fees for any month shall be made on a monthly basis during the applicable month and shall be remitted to the Financial Officer of the Union. The monthly dues and/or service fee remittances to the Union will be accompanied by the list of names of employees from whose wages dues deductions have been made.

<u>Section 6</u>. The Union agrees to indemnify, hold and save the Town harmless against any and all claims, damages, reasonable Attorney Fees, costs and suits that shall or may arise out of or by reason of any action taken by the Town for the purpose of complying with the provisions of this Article.

<u>Section 7</u>. The Town agrees to provide space on a bulletin board in the Town of Portland Library for the exclusive use of the Union. The bulletin board space shall be for Union information only.

<u>Section 8</u>. Access to premises.

Union Staff Representatives and Union Stewards with reasonable notice, at reasonable times, and for reasonable periods of time, shall be permitted reasonable time to visit any employee of the bargaining unit at their worksite for the purpose of discussing, processing or investigating filed grievances, or fulfilling the Union's role as a collective bargaining agent. Any steward who is released from his/her work assignment to fulfill his/her duties as a representative of the Union shall lose no pay or benefits.

The Union will have the right to use conference rooms in the Town of Portland Library at reasonable times at no cost. Request to use such facilities shall be made by the Union to the Library Director and are subject to availability.

<u>Section 9</u>. The Town shall provide each member of the bargaining unit a copy of this contract within ten (10) calendar days of its signing. Likewise, the Town agrees to provide a copy of the contract to all new bargaining unit members upon employment.

<u>Section 10</u>. The Employer agrees to voluntary payroll deductions for the Union's Political Action Fund provided the Town has written notification from the employee and the technical capability to accommodate such deductions and such occurs at no additional cost to the Town. These deductions shall be kept consistent with federal and state law on this subject.

<u>Section 11</u>. The Union shall notify the Town in writing of the names of all officers, stewards and staff representatives.

ARTICLE 5 - MANAGEMENT RIGHTS

Section 1. There are no provisions in this Agreement that shall be deemed to limit or curtail the Town in any way in the exercise of the rights, power and authority which the Town had prior to the effective date of this contract unless and only to the extent that provisions of this Agreement specifically curtail or limit such rights, powers and authority. The Union recognizes that the Town's rights, powers and authority include, but are not limited to, the right to manage its operation; direct, select, decrease and increase the work force, including hiring, promotion, demotion, transfer, suspension, discharge for just cause, or layoff; the right to make all plans and decisions on all matters involving its operations; the extent to which the facilities of any department thereof shall be operated; additions thereto; removal of equipment; outside purchases

of products or services; the scheduling of operations; means and processes of operations; the materials to be used; and the right to introduce new and improved methods and facilities and to change existing methods and facilities; to maintain discipline and efficiency of employees; to prescribe rules to that effect; to establish and change standards and quality standards; determine the qualifications of employees; and to run the Town efficiently.

ARTICLE 6 - NO STRIKE OR LOCKOUT

The Union agrees that during the term of this Agreement, it shall not authorize, cause, engage in, sanction, or assist in any work stoppage, strike or slow-down of operations. The Town agrees that during the term of this Agreement, it will not lockout any of the employees covered by this Agreement.

ARTICLE 7 - SAVINGS CLAUSE

If any section, sentence, clause or phrase of this Agreement shall be held for any reason to be inoperative, void or invalid, the validity of the remaining portions of this Agreement shall not be affected hereby, it being the intention of the parties in adopting this Agreement that no portion thereof or provision herein, shall become inoperative or fail by reason of the invalidity of any other portion or provision, and the parties do hereby declare that it would have severally approved of and adopted the provisions contained herein separately and apart from the other. The parties agree to immediately negotiate a substitute for the invalidated article, section, sentence, clause and/or phrase.

ARTICLE 8 - DISCIPLINE

<u>Section 1</u>. No employee except probationary employees shall be discharged or otherwise disciplined without just cause. All disciplinary action shall be applied in a fair and consistent manner and shall not be inconsistent to the infraction for which disciplinary action is being applied.

Section 2. Progressive Discipline.

The parties jointly recognize the deterrent value of disciplinary action. Accordingly, whenever appropriate, the Town will follow these guidelines:

- a. Take prompt corrective action;
- b. Apply discipline with a view toward uniformity and consistency of punishment;
- c. In the area of inefficient or incompetent performance, oral reprimand and constructive criticism should ordinarily precede formal disciplinary procedures;

d. No warning shall be necessary with respect to neglect of duty, insubordination or willful misconduct. Nothing in this Section shall prohibit Management from bypassing progressive discipline when the nature of the offense requires, or from applying disciplinary action to differing degrees. The failure of the employer to apply progressive discipline in any case shall not by itself be deemed arbitrary, capricious or discriminatory.

Section 3. Work Now, Grieve Later.

It is the duty of every employee to obey all lawful commands or orders issued orally or in writing, and failure to do so may result in a breakdown in discipline and serious consequences. Commands and orders must be obeyed and grievance procedures invoked later. Any employee of the Town covered by this Agreement who fails to carry out an order or comply with rules, regulations or instructions is subject to disciplinary action. If an employee challenges the legality of an order, such order shall be reduced to writing as soon as practical.

Section 4. Notice of Discipline.

- a. After a management decision is made to impose discipline, the union will have five (5) working days after formal notice of the discipline to file a grievance.
- b. The following actions constitute serious discipline for purposes of this Section:
 - 1. Dismissal
 - 2. Suspension
 - 3. Written Reprimand
- c. An employee must be notified prior to being suspended or dismissed. The employer shall notify the Union in writing of any suspension or dismissal concurrent with written notice to the employee. Such notice shall cite the reason for the discipline, effective date of the discipline and the notice of right to appeal.
- d. An employee, who is being interviewed concerning an incident that may subject him/her to disciplinary action, may have a Union Steward or other Union Representative present. If the employee decides during an interview he/she needs a representative, the meeting will come to a close until a Union representative can be present.
- e. All disciplinary actions may be appealed through the established grievance procedure, except by probationary employees.

Section 5. Oral reprimands.

Where appropriate, oral reprimands shall be given in a manner that will not embarrass the employee before other employees or the public. "Oral reprimands" do not include orders or instructions to a subordinate designed to accomplish an operational goal.

Section 6. Access to Information.

During the course of informal proceedings prior to notice of formal discipline and during the course of the grievance procedure prior to arbitration, the Town will share information with the Union and the employee consistent with the Union's entitlement as exclusive bargaining agent and with a view toward reaching agreement on the discipline being imposed.

<u>Section 7</u>. Authorization and Level of Discipline.

In recognition of the various levels of command and degrees of improper conduct which may warrant discipline, the following supervisory personnel may impose the below described levels of discipline:

- a. The Library Director may invoke the following discipline:
 - 1. Oral reprimand
 - 2. Written reprimand
- b. The First Selectman may invoke the following discipline:
 - 1. Oral reprimand
 - 2. Written reprimand
 - 3. Suspension
 - 4. Dismissal

Section 8. Personnel Records.

An employee shall be permitted to examine and obtain copies of any materials in his/her personnel file. Upon presentation of written authorization by an employee, a Union Steward or a representative of the Union may have access to an employee's personnel file.

No material relating to disciplinary action shall be placed in an employee's personnel file until the employee has had an opportunity to review and sign such material. The signing shall not be construed as acceptance thereof, but only of receipt and review. If an employee refuses to sign any such material the supervisor may note that the employee refused to sign or a Union steward or Union staff representative may sign indicating receipt thereof. Employees may comment in writing on such material. Employees may also file a written grievance regarding the material. The employee shall be deemed to have had an opportunity to review and sign such material if such material is mailed to the employee at the home address contained in the personnel file and such material is not returned signed within ten (10) business days.

ARTICLE 9 - GRIEVANCE PROCEDURE

Section 1. Purpose.

The purpose of this procedure is to secure, at the lowest possible administrative level, solutions to grievances regarding misapplication and misinterpretation of the specific language of the Agreement.

Section 2. Definitions.

"Grievance" shall mean a complaint by the Union, an employee, or a group of employees that her/his/their rights under the specific language of this Agreement have been violated or that, as to her/him/them, there has been a misinterpretation or misapplication of the specific provisions of this Agreement.

"Grievant" shall mean the Union, any member of the bargaining unit, or a group of bargaining unit members similarly affected by a grievance, seeking recourse under the terms of this Article.

"Days" shall mean calendar days.

Section 3. Time Limits.

If a grievance in writing is not filed to the Town within fourteen (14) calendar days after the grievant knew or should have known of the act or conditions on which the grievance is based, then the grievance shall be considered to have been waived. The time limits specified within this Article may be extended by mutual agreement of the Union and the Town or its designee, provided that, if a grievance is not submitted to a higher Step in the below procedure, it shall be deemed settled on the basis of the answer in the last Step considered. Failure by the Town to render a decision within the specified time limits shall be deemed to be a denial of the grievance and the grievance shall proceed to the next level.

Section 4.

Step 1 – Library Director

If an employee feels that he/she may have a grievance, he/she and/or his/her Union Steward and/or Union Staff Representative may first discuss the matter with the Library Director in an effort to resolve the problem informally. If unable to do so, the grievant shall reduce the grievance to writing and submit it to the Library Director. The Library Director shall render a decision to the grievance in writing within fourteen (14) days following the meeting.

Step 2 – First Selectman

If the grievant and/or Union is not satisfied with the disposition of his/her grievance at Step 1, he/she, may, within fourteen (14) days after the decision, file his/her grievance with the First Selectman. The First Selectman shall meet within fourteen (14) days after receipt of the

grievance with the grievant and his/her Union Steward and/or Union Staff Representative to discuss the grievance. The First Selectman shall render a decision to the grievance in writing within fourteen (14) days following the meeting.

Step 3 – Board of Selectmen

If the grievant and/or Union is not satisfied with the disposition of his/her grievance at Step 2, he/she, may, within fourteen (14) days after the decision, file his/her grievance with the Board of Selectmen. The Board of Selectmen shall meet with the grievant and his/her Union Steward and/or Union Staff Representative to discuss the grievance at its next regular meeting, or at a special meeting mutually agreeable to the parties. The Board of Selectmen shall render a decision to the grievance in writing within fourteen (14) days following the meeting.

Step 4 – Arbitration

If a grievance remains unresolved, the Union may submit the matter to arbitration. The submission of the grievance shall state the provision of the contract allegedly violated and the remedy sought. Grievances shall be submitted in writing and must be filed with the Connecticut State Board of Mediation and Arbitration no later than fourteen (14) days after the Step 3 answer or mediation session. The Arbitrator shall have no power to add to, subtract from, alter or modify this Agreement. The decision of the arbitrator shall be final and binding. The cost of arbitration will be borne equally by the parties, but each party shall be responsible for bearing their own respective costs associated with the arbitration process. Unless the parties agree to combine grievances, the arbitrator will hear and decide only one (1) grievance at a time. This provision will not prevent the arbitrator from hearing a class action grievance.

One Union steward and any employees who will testify during the arbitration process shall be granted leave from duty with pay in order to attend such hearings. Once the employee is finished testifying, he or she is expected to return to work for the remainder of his or her scheduled hours.

Section 5. Mediation.

If the grievance is still not resolved after Step 3, the Union or the Town may submit the matter to a mediator appointed by the Connecticut State Board of Mediation and Arbitration for the purpose of helping to resolve the grievance, within fourteen (14) days after receipt of the Step 3 answer.

<u>Section 6</u>. In case of dismissal, suspension, demotion, and a class action grievance, the grievance shall be submitted directly to Step 2.

ARTICLE 10 - SENIORITY

<u>Section 1</u>. For purposes of this Agreement and subject to the accrual rules below, seniority shall be defined as an employee's uninterrupted service with the Town from the date of last hire,

including all authorized paid and unpaid leave, providing the employee returns to work immediately at the conclusion of such leave.

<u>Section 2</u>. Seniority shall not be broken by vacation, sick time, job related injuries (provided the employee returns to work), authorized leaves of absence, suspension, or any mandatory call to military service, up to any limits provided by this Agreement.

<u>Section 3</u>. Seniority shall be broken only by the following events: discharge for cause, retirement, resignation, layoff in excess of recall period, and failure to report for duty within ten (10) days after notification of recall unless such time limit is waived. Seniority accumulation shall be suspended (but not broken) during layoff or during a long-term leave of absence (more than thirty (30) days) or job related leave which exceeds twelve (12) months.

<u>Section 4</u>. The Town shall prepare a seniority list of all employees covered by this Agreement, showing their classification and length of service with the Town, and deliver such list to the Union Steward and Union office on October 1st of each year.

Section 5. Probationary Employees.

No employee shall attain seniority rights under this Agreement until he/she has been continuously on the payroll of the Town for a period of six (6) months. During the probationary period, an employee may be terminated by the Town in its sole discretion for any reason whatsoever and neither the employee nor the Union on his/her behalf shall have recourse to the grievance or arbitration provisions of this Agreement. Upon completion of this probationary period, the name of the new employee shall be added to the seniority list with his/her time commencing on the date of his/her employment.

Section 6. Layoff and Recall.

If a reduction in the work force is necessary, the Town will lay off on the basis of classification, with the least senior employee being laid off first. The parties understand that this means that layoffs within a classification will be based on seniority and not solely on time within the classification.

In lieu of layoff, an employee may bump a less senior employee in the same or lower classification provided he/she is qualified to perform the work available in the judgment of the Library Director. The parties understand and agree that for purposes of this provision, employees in any Librarian classification (e.g. Librarian I and Librarian II) may bump less senior employees only within the Librarian classification, while an employee in a Library Associate or Library Assistant position (e.g. Library Associate I, Library Associate II, Library Assistant I and Library Assistant II) may only bump less senior employees in those same classifications.

When an employee, as a result of layoff, transfers to a lower classification with a lower salary range by bumping, his/her rate of pay in the lower classification shall be the rate of pay closest to that held by him/her at the time of bump.

Any employee who is laid off after having satisfied his/her probationary period shall be placed on a re-employment list and shall remain on such list for a period of two years following the layoff. An employee on the re-employment list shall be subject to recall in the event that the position from which he/she was laid off becomes vacant during such period, provided the employee is still qualified for such position as of the time of the recall, as determined by the Town. An employee who has been laid off and subsequently rehired within the recall period shall have all his/her seniority restored as if he/she had never been separated. An employee on the re-employment list who declines recall or does not respond to written notice from the Town informing the employee of his/her recall within five (5) working days shall be removed from the re-employment list and shall have no further recall rights. Except in an emergency, such as when the Town's budget is not established by May 31 of a particular year, the Town will provide employees with at least four (4) weeks' notice of layoff.

ARTICLE 11 - VACANCY

<u>Section 1</u>. All job vacancies within the bargaining unit that the Town decides to fill, including new bargaining unit positions, shall be posted for a period of no less than ten (10) calendar days. Postings shall be in the library. The Union Steward and the Union office shall be notified of the vacancy when it is posted. No position shall be filled until the posting period has been closed. No position shall be filled from outside of the bargaining unit until the posting period has closed.

Section 2. When a vacancy is posted, bargaining unit members shall have the right to apply for the position within the posting period. In the event that two or more employees apply for the vacancy, the employees' skill and ability as determined by management shall be the primary factors in determining which employee is selected for the position. Where skill and ability are equal, length of service shall be the governing factor. Bargaining unit members who qualify for the vacancy shall be given first preference in filling all promotional or non-promotional vacancies prior to the hiring of any new employee from outside the bargaining unit for the position. Bargaining unit members who apply for the vacancy but who do not qualify for the vacancy shall be notified by the Town of their status regarding the position prior to the hiring of any new employee from outside the bargaining unit for that position, and prior to advertising the position outside the bargaining unit.

<u>Section 3</u>. Newly promoted or transferred employees shall have a trial period of six (6) months to demonstrate their ability to perform in the new position. If the employee proves unable to perform the duties of the position in the sole judgment of the Library Director and as demonstrated by relevant and supportive documentation, the employee may elect to return to the position from which the employee was promoted or transferred, within the trial period of six (6) months, unless the position previously occupied by the employee has been eliminated. Where such a position was eliminated, the employee shall be placed in a reasonably equivalent position, assuming one is available. In the event there is no position available for the employee, Article 10, Section 6 shall apply.

ARTICLE 12 - LEAVE PROVISIONS

Section 1. Sick Leave.

- a. All full-time and regular part-time bargaining unit employees shall accrue sick leave for continuous service upon hire and shall be eligible to use such time after completion of the probationary period. Full-time employees accrue sick leave at a rate of one and one-quarter (1 ¼) working days per completed calendar month of service, not to exceed fifteen (15) days sick leave per year. Each regular part-time employee shall accrue sick leave on a prorated basis. When out of work on sick leave, employees shall be paid for sick time for all hours he/she is normally regularly scheduled to work. Sick leave may be credited in one-half (1/2) hour increments. Unused sick leave may be accumulated up to a total of one hundred (100) days.
- b. Sick Leave or Vacation or Holiday. If an employee is sick while on vacation leave, the time shall be charged against accrued sick leave if supported by a certificate from his/her doctor filed with the supervisor. A holiday occurring when an employee is on sick leave shall be counted as a holiday and not charged as sick leave.
- c. Sick leave shall continue to accumulate during approved leaves of absence with pay and during the time an employee is on authorized sick leave or vacation time. Sick leave shall not accrue for any month the employee is on leave of absence without pay for over fifty-one (51%) percent of the month.
- d. Sick leave shall accrue for the first six (6) months while an employee is receiving Worker's Compensation.
- e. In the event the Town determines that sick leave is being abused, the Library Director shall discuss the matter with the employee in an attempt to resolve the abuse of sick leave. If the abuse of sick leave continues, the matter shall be referred to the First Selectman for appropriate action.
- f. Abuse of sick leave may include, but is not limited to, sick days repeatedly taken before or after a holiday, repeatedly on Fridays or Mondays, and sick days taken as soon as they are earned. A doctor's certificate may be required whenever an employee is off from work for four (4) consecutive work days or more or in the event of frequent or habitual absences that continue after discussion with the Library Director as outlined above.
- g. Upon termination, provided such termination is not for cause, an employee shall receive severance pay equal to one-hundred percent (100%) of accumulated sick leave up to forty-five (45) days after the completion of two (2) years.

h. Upon death of the employee, one hundred percent (100%) of accumulated sick days up to forty-five (45) days shall be paid in a lump sum to his/her designated beneficiary or to the employee's estate, at the employee's then current rate of pay.

Section 2. Workers' Compensation.

In the event that a full-time or regular part-time employee receives Workers' Compensation benefits, the difference in his/her pay, if any, shall be paid by the Town for up to six (6) months.

Section 3. Personal Leave.

Each full-time employee shall be granted four (4) personal days each calendar year. Each regular part-time employee shall accrue personal leave on a pro-rata basis. Likewise, each regular full-time employee commencing employment after January 1 shall accrue personal leave on a pro-rata basis. Said days may not accumulate from year to year. Personal leave may be used in one-half (1/2) hour increments with a minimum usage of one (1) hour. Requests to use personal leave shall be made at least five (5) days in advance except in extenuating circumstances.

Section 4. Funeral Leave.

- a. In the event of a death in the family of an eligible employee, leave consisting of up to three (3) consecutive workdays shall be granted. Regular part-time employees, as defined in this Agreement, shall be paid based on the employee's workweek. The full-time or regular part-time employee shall be paid his current rate for up to three (3) consecutive days which fall within his/her regularly scheduled work days. The term "family" shall include the employee's spouse, mother, father, child, sibling, mother-in-law, father-in-law, brother-in-law, sister-in-law, grandparent, grandchild, or any other person who is an actual member of the employee's household.
- b. In the event of the death of an aunt, uncle, niece, nephew or other relative of the eligible employee or his/her spouse, up to one (1) day paid leave shall be allowed.
- c. The First Selectman may grant additional time off for funeral leave which will be deducted from an employee's sick leave, personal leave, or vacation time, whichever the employee chooses.

Section 5. Unpaid Leave.

Requests for unpaid leaves of absence up to one (1) year may be made. Approval of such request shall be at the discretion of the First Selectman or designee. If approved, the employee will reimburse the Town for the cost of continuing group medical, dental and life insurance benefits during the period of the leave, if applicable.

Section 6. Family and Medical Leave.

The Town shall allow employees leaves of absence as required by the Federal Family and Medical Leave Act of 1993.

Employees must first exhaust all paid leave benefits (i.e. vacation and sick leave) before becoming eligible to utilize unpaid leave. An employee may reserve a maximum of five (5) days vacation leave and five (5) days sick leave for future use. Such paid leave will be credited against the employee's eligible leave under the Family and Medical Leave Act of 1993.

Section 7. Military Leave.

Military leave in accordance with state and federal law may be granted upon request to the First Selectman.

Section 8. Leave Balances.

The Town shall notify each employee of his/her leave balances. Such an accounting shall be given no later than May 1^{st} of each subsequent year.

<u>Section 8.1</u> Jury Duty. An employee required to report for jury duty on a scheduled work day shall receive the difference in his/her pay, if any, from the employer, upon presentation of a voucher from the court.

Section 9. Vacations.

a. Schedule. When out of work on vacation leave, employees shall be paid for vacation leave for all hours he/she is normally regularly scheduled to work. All full-time employees covered under this Agreement shall be granted time off with pay for vacations according to the following schedule:

| Years of Continuous Service | Rate Accumulated |
|--|--|
| Date of Hire – but less than five (5) years of employment | .833 days per month two (2) weeks per year. |
| Five (5) years but less than ten (10) years of employment | 1.25 days per month three (3) weeks per year. |
| Ten (10) years but less than twenty (20) years of employment | 1.66 days per month four (4) weeks per year. |
| Twenty (20) years but less than twenty-four (24) years of employment | four (4) weeks per year plus one (1) day per year greater than 20. |

Twenty-four (24) years or more

five (5) weeks per year.

- b. For all regular part-time employees and part-time employees, as defined in this Agreement, vacation accrual shall be based on the actual date of hire and in accordance with the above schedule. Vacation days shall be prorated according to the employee's normal workweek.
- c. Notification. Vacation requests for three (3) or more days must be submitted at least two (2) weeks in advance of the vacation period unless there are extenuating circumstances. All vacation requests for less than three (3) days shall be submitted at least five (5) days in advance of the vacation day unless there are extenuating circumstances. All vacation requests must be submitted in advance to the Library Director.

To assist in the scheduling of vacation time, employees shall submit vacation requests to the employer between March 1 and April 1 of each year. An employee must request a block of time of three (3) days or more in order to have seniority considered. Vacation requests submitted under this provision shall be granted on the basis of seniority, and once approved, shall not be denied on the basis of a later request by a more senior employee. These vacation schedules shall be conspicuously posted no later than April 15 of each year.

- d. Vacation time may be used in one-half (1/2) hour increments with a minimum usage of one (1) hour.
- e. Vacation day accumulation will be a maximum of forty-five (45) days and may be transferred from year to year and must be approved by the First Selectman. Vacation days accumulated over forty-five (45) days maximum shall be paid to the employee at the end of each fiscal year.
- f. Retirement or Termination. In the event of retirement or termination (except for cause), accumulated vacation days shall be paid in a lump sum payment to the employee at his/her then current rate of pay. In the event of death, accumulated vacation days shall be paid in a lump sum payment to the designated beneficiary of the employee, or to the estate if there is no named beneficiary.

Section 10. Holidays.

a. The following are paid holidays for employees:

New Year's Day Martin Luther King Day President's Day Good Friday Memorial Day Floating Holiday Independence Day Labor Day Columbus Day Veteran's Day Thanksgiving Day Day after Thanksgiving

Christmas Day

- b. Employees shall schedule their floating holiday, with the Library Director's advance approval, at least two (2) weeks in advance.
- c. Holidays listed above will be celebrated on the same day as the State of Connecticut, unless the actual holiday falls on a Saturday and the Library is regularly scheduled to be open, in which case the Saturday will be celebrated as the holiday and the Library will be closed for that day. In the event the Town decides to remain open on a holiday, employees who work shall receive a floating holiday to be used within forty-five (45) days.
- d. In the event that the Library closes early on July 3, Thanksgiving Eve Day, Christmas Eve Day, or New Year's Eve Day, all employees will be paid for their regular number of hours scheduled for that day.
- e. If a holiday falls on a full-time or regular part-time employee's scheduled day off, he/she shall receive a day off to be taken at a time mutually agreed upon with the Library Director. Any days granted pursuant to this section shall be taken within forty-five (45) days of the holiday for which the day was received. If a holiday falls on a day that the employee is regularly scheduled to work, he/she shall be paid for his/her hours scheduled. If a holiday falls on a day when a part-time employee is not regularly scheduled to work, such employee shall not receive holiday pay. There shall be no payout of unused, accumulated holiday time upon termination, including retirement, unless a request to use the day(s) was made to the Library Director and said request was denied.
- f. Whenever any of these holidays occur while an employee is out on sick leave or vacation, the time will not be charged to accrued sick time or vacation time.

ARTICLE 13 - INSURANCE AND PENSION

<u>Section 1</u>. The Town shall provide and pay for term life insurance for each full-time and regular part-time employee in the bargaining unit in an amount equal to their annual base salary, rounded to the next highest one thousand (1,000) dollars.

Section 2. Subject to the Town's right to change insurance carriers and/or to self-insure these benefits, the Town shall offer health care benefits to full-time and regular part-time employees and their eligible dependents. Employees scheduled to work less than 30 hours per week shall not be eligible to receive insurance benefits, including but not limited to health care benefits, AD&D benefits, life insurance benefits, short-term or long-term disability benefits, retiree health benefits and retiree life insurance. It is agreed and understood that full-time and regular part-time employees may elect single, two person or family coverage. Insurance coverage for new employees will commence on the first day of the month following appointment or as soon as coverage can be provided. An application for insurance will be completed on or near the date of

hire. Health care benefits shall be provided to full-time employees with the options outlined below:

a. Flex POS2 (formerly HMO). The Town shall offer a Flex POS2 plan as outlined in Appendix A but which is subject to change in accordance with the provisions of this Agreement. Qualifying employees shall contribute to the cost of medical coverage elected on a percentage of premium or premium equivalent cost basis as follows:

| <u>Year</u> | Individual Coverage | Two Person or Family Coverage |
|-------------|----------------------------|--------------------------------------|
| 2016 – 2017 | 10% | 15% |
| 2017 - 2018 | 11% | 16% |
| 2018 - 2019 | 13% | 18% |

b. High Deductible Health Plan (HDHP), also known as Flex POS HSA. The Town shall offer a High Deductible Health Plan in conjunction with Health Savings Accounts, as outlined in Appendix B but which is subject to change in accordance with the provisions of this Agreement. Qualifying employees shall contribute to the cost of medical coverage elected on a percentage of premium or premium equivalent cost basis as follows:

| Year | Individual Coverage | Two Person or Family Coverage |
|-------------|---------------------|-------------------------------|
| 2016 – 2017 | 10% | 15% |
| 2017 - 2018 | 10% | 15% |
| 2018 - 2019 | 11% | 16% |

- (i) For the fiscal years beginning July 1, 2016 and July 1, 2018, the Town will fund fifty percent (50%) of the applicable deductible for the HDHP. For the fiscal year beginning July 1, 2017, the Town will fund one hundred percent (100%) of the applicable deductible for the HDHP, as long as the annualized premium differential between the Flex POS 2 plan and the High Deductible Health Plan is equal to or greater than fifty percent (50%) of the deductible. Employees will be responsible for establishing their own HSA accounts.
- (ii) In the 2016-2017 and 2018-2019 fiscal years, the Town shall provide its portion of the funding of the deductible on a quarterly basis. For the 2017-2018 fiscal year, the Town shall provide its portion of the funding of the deductible in one lump sum. However, in the event that an employee leaves Town service prior to January 2, 2018, the Town shall be able to recover one-half of its funding of the deductible from the employee by withholding such amount from the employee's paychecks and any pay-out of accrued but unused sick and/or vacation time.

Section 3. Dental Coverage.

The Town will provide and pay for fifty percent (50%) of the premium for individual Flex Dental Plan. See Appendix C. The employee will pay for the cost of any dependent coverage.

<u>Section 4</u>. The Town shall have the right to change the manner in which health and dental insurance is provided, including, but not limited to, the right to self-insure, partially self-insure or change health and dental coverage carriers, with the understanding that the plan(s) resulting from such change(s), when viewed as a whole, provide coverage comparable, in terms of coverage, benefits and administration, to that set forth in this agreement, except as otherwise provided below. Whenever possible, the Town will provide the Union and members of the bargaining unit with at least sixty (60) days advanced notice of the Town's intent to change carriers or self-insure.

Section 5. Full-time and regular part-time employees may elect, on a completely voluntary basis, to waive their right to participate in the health insurance plan offered by the Town, as set forth in this agreement. In consideration for the voluntary waiver of single coverage and upon presentation of proof of alternate insurance then in place covering the employee, the Town will pay the qualifying employee the amount of five hundred dollars (\$500) per year payable in equal quarterly installments. In consideration for the voluntary waiver of employee plus one dependent health insurance coverage, the Town will pay the qualifying employee the amount of one thousand dollars (\$1,000) per year payable in equal quarterly installments. In consideration for the voluntary waiver of family dependent health insurance coverage, the Town will pay the qualifying employee the amount of one thousand, five hundred dollars (\$1,500) per year in equal quarterly installments. In the event of changed circumstances that require the qualifying employee to revoke his/her insurance waiver, the employee must provide the Town with notice of such changed circumstances and return any money received in exchange for such waiver to the Town on a prorated basis. Insurance coverage waivers are subject to any limitations or restrictions, which may be imposed by the applicable insurance carriers. Qualifying employees who waive insurance coverage and subsequently apply for reinstatement shall be subject to all restrictions for reinstatement imposed by the applicable insurance carriers, including all waiting periods.

<u>Section 6</u>. The short and long term disability program offered by the Town to its employees shall be offered to full-time and regular part-time bargaining unit members

Section 7. Pension.

Eligible employees will continue to be covered by the Town's pension plan.

Section 8. Retiree Health Insurance.

All eligible persons who have retired and are receiving benefits under a Town pension plan and who are not yet eligible to receive Medicare Part A benefits and have attained twenty-five (25) years of service to the Town, will continue to receive health insurance and dental benefits as provided to active employees as such coverages may be amended from time to time by collective bargaining and annual reevaluations. The Town shall pay fifty (50%) percent of individual coverage for the retiree. The retiree shall have the option of purchasing dependent coverage at one hundred (100%) percent of the cost of the coverage as determined by the Town's plan rate. Upon eligibility for Medicare Part A benefits, such persons will no longer be eligible to continue to receive such health insurance and dental benefits.

However, should the retired employee have health insurance coverage that, when viewed as a whole, is comparable to or better than the Town's plan available to himself/herself or dependent resulting from subsequent employment, the benefits provided for in this section shall not be provided. The employee shall have a one-time option to subsequently reenroll in the Town's plan at the total cost effective at the employee's retirement rate.

Eligible retirees who attain eligibility for Medicare Part A benefits will have the option to retain Town health insurance and dental benefits in the form of Medicare Supplement coverage for himself/herself. The eligible retiree shall pay one hundred (100%) percent of the cost of coverage for himself/herself, spouse and dependent children, paying at the Town's plan's rates.

ARTICLE 14 - WAGES

<u>Section 1</u>. Each bargaining unit employee must submit time cards recording time worked, overtime, holidays and days taken with approval for vacation, personal leave, funeral leave and sick leave. The Library Director or his or her designee shall initial time cards.

- a. The salary schedules for July 1, 2016 through June 30, 2019 are hereby made a part of, incorporated into, and attached as Appendix D to this Agreement.
- b. In accordance with the salary schedules in Appendix D, new employees shall be hired at the base (Step 1) rate of pay unless a higher starting rate of pay is approved by the First Selectman based on the candidate's experience and skills. On January 1 of 2017 (year 1 of this contract) and 2019 (year 3 of this contract), eligible employees shall move one step on the salary schedule. There shall be no step movement during the second year of the contract (2017-2018). Eligibility shall be defined as six months of service in the current position.

Section 2.

General wage increases for the contract term shall be as follows:

```
2016 – 2017 2.5% (retroactive from date of signing to July 1, 2016)
2017 – 2018 2.0%
2018 – 2019 2.0%
```

An employee temporarily assigned by the Library Director and the First Selectman to a position in a higher classification with a higher rate of pay shall be paid for all time worked at the higher rate of pay at the step in the higher classification which is closest to his/her current rate of pay.

Employees who are authorized in advance to use their own vehicles for Town business shall be entitled to compensation at the IRS approved amount, or the Town shall supply a vehicle with advance notice.

ARTICLE 15 - HOURS OF WORK AND OVERTIME

<u>Section 1</u>. The Town shall determine the Library's hours of operation. If any changes to the hours of operation impact employees' current work schedules, the Town and the Union agree to negotiate said impact prior to the change going into effect.

Section 2. All full-time employees, as defined in this Agreement, shall be entitled to an unpaid half-hour (1/2) duty free lunch. All regular part-time employees and part-time employees, as defined in this Agreement, scheduled to work an eight (8) hour shift shall be entitled to an unpaid half-hour (1/2) duty free lunch. In addition to the above mentioned unpaid lunch, all employees scheduled to work a four (4) to eight (8) hour shift shall be entitled to a paid fifteen (15) minute break.

A Master Schedule shall be posted every six (6) months. The Library Director, to the extent that s/he determines that it is feasible and practicable, shall take into consideration input from employees in establishing the Master Schedule. Employees who desire input into said schedule shall provide the Library Director or his/her designee with information on their scheduling concerns at least four (4) days prior to the date that the schedule is required to be posted.

The Town reserves the right to adjust weekly schedules as necessary to cover employee absences or other extenuating circumstances. Any such adjustments shall be posted no later than the Wednesday before the applicable workweek. Any permanent change to an employee's regular schedule shall not take effect without at least six (6) weeks advance notice under normal circumstances. A Master Schedule establishing Saturday work hours shall be posted quarterly. Any change to the Saturday schedule must be requested at least one month in advance.

In the event the library is closed due to weather or emergency, an employee scheduled to work that day shall be paid for all time he/she was scheduled to work.

Under normal circumstances, an employee's regular schedule will include one (1) night per workweek and one (1) Saturday in every three week period. This does not preclude the Town from creating positions normally scheduled to work more evenings and Saturdays, or preclude an employee from voluntarily working more than one evening per week or more than one Saturday in every three week period.

Section 3. Overtime.

An employee may not work more than forty (40) hours per week unless such overtime is previously approved by the First Selectman. Overtime will be paid in accordance with state and federal law.

Overtime assignments as determined by the Library Director shall be filled on a fair and equitable basis.

<u>Section 4</u>. On holidays and holiday weekends, all work concerning the retrieval of materials from the book drop box on the Library's premises shall be the responsibility of employees of this bargaining unit. In the event that a bargaining unit employee is called in by the Library Director to retrieve materials from the book drop box, the employee shall receive a minimum of four hours of pay to perform such task.

ARTICLE 16 - PROFESSIONAL DEVELOPMENT

<u>Section 1</u>. <u>Employees</u> may be required or may be allowed to attend professional meetings and conferences of library associations as directed or approved in advance by the Library Director. In the event an employee is required to attend or obtains advance permission for reimbursement of expenses to attend such a seminar, meeting or conference, the costs of registration, and reasonable and necessary mileage, transportation and/or other expenses, to the extent such were approved by the Director in writing, will be reimbursed by the Town.

Any employee taking college courses which, in the sole discretion of the Library Section 2. Director, directly relate to the employee's current assignments shall be eligible to be reimbursed for fifty percent (50%) of the cost of the course and books when the school and course are approved in writing by the Library Director in advance and the employee receives a final grade of "B" or better in such approved course. The total liability of the Town shall not exceed two thousand five hundred dollars (\$2,500.00) in any fiscal year, regardless of the number of employees who qualify for reimbursement. In instances where the \$2,500.00 maximum is exceeded in a fiscal year, reimbursement shall be done equitably among qualifying employees. Unused funds in any fiscal year do not accrue. Notification of intent to take such course(s) and request for preliminary approval must be made with advance notice. If said notice is not provided in a timely fashion, reimbursement may be delayed until the following fiscal year. Employees who leave the Town's employ within three (3) years of being reimbursed for any reason other than layoff shall be required to repay all tuition reimbursement received. Authorization to deduct monies from final pay will be sought from the employee and/or payments shall be made by the employee directly to the Town on a mutually agreed schedule.

ARTICLE 17 - LONGEVITY

All full-time and regular part-time employees shall be entitled to longevity pay in accordance with the following schedule:

```
$350.00 - 10^{th} through 14^{th} year of service $450.00 - 15^{th} through 19^{th} year of service $550.00 - 20^{th} year and over
```

Years of service shall be determined based on date of hire. Payment will be made in one (1) lump sum at the time of the first (1st) week in July or January, whichever comes sooner after the employee's anniversary date. (Example: Employee's anniversary date is in February. He/She earns a longevity payment in February, but receives it following July *or* Employee's anniversary

date is in September. He/She earns longevity payment in September, but receives it the following January).

ARTICLE 18 - NON-DISCRIMINATION

The parties agree that neither shall discriminate against any employee on the basis of race, color, religious creed, sex, sexual orientation, age, national origin, ancestry, marital status, physical or mental disability or lawful political activity.

The Town shall not discriminate against an employee on the basis of membership or non-membership or lawful activity on behalf of the bargaining unit.

No employee shall be coerced or intimidated or suffer any reprisal, either directly or indirectly, as a result of the exercise of his/her rights under this Agreement.

ARTICLE 19 - DURATION

This Agreement shall be in full force and effect from the date of signing to June 30, 2019.

For the Town of Portland:

For the Union:

Date:

APPENDIX A

ConnectiCare

FlexPOS-CAL-20-20-0-02 Open Access Calendar Year Benefit Summary

This is a brief summary of benefits. Refer to your ConnectiCare Insurance Company, Inc. Certificate of Coverage for complete details on benefits, conditions, limitations and exclusions, or consult with your benefits manager. All benefits described below are per Member per Calendar year. A referral from your primary care provider is not required.

Personalized for: Town of Portland (FlexPOS 2)

| | IN-NETWORK MEMBER PAYS | OUT-OF-NETWORK MEMBER PAYS |
|---|---|---|
| Calendar Year Plan Deductible | None | \$10,000 Employee \$20,000 Employee +1 \$30,000 per Family |
| Out-of-Pocket Maximum (Includes a combination of deductible, copayments and coinsurance for health and pharmacy services) | \$6,350 Employee \$12,700 Employee +1 \$12,700 per Family | \$30,000 Employee \$60,000 Employee +1 \$90,000 per Family |
| Out-of-Network Reimbursement | None | Plan will reimburse the coinsurance percentage of the Maximum Allowable Amount. |
| Lifetime Maximum Benefit | Unlimited | Unlimited |
| PREVENTIVE SERVICES (Refer to "Prevention and Wellness" section found at the end of this summary) | IN-NETWORK MEMBER PAYS | OUT-OF-NETWORK MEMBER PAYS |
| Physical Exam | No Member cost | 50% after Plan Deductible |
| Gynecological Preventive Exam | No Member cost | 50% after Plan Deductible |
| Preventive Laboratory Services | No Member cost | 50% after Plan Deductible |
| Baseline Routine Mammography (age 35-40) | No Member cost | 50% after Plan Deductible |
| Routine Mammography (over age 40) | No Member cost | 50% after Plan Deductible |
| Breast Ultrasound Screening | No Member cost | 50% after Plan Deductible |
| Routine Vision Exam (one exam every year when provided by an Optometrist or Ophthalmologist) | No Member cost | 50% after Plan Deductible |
| Hearing Screenings one screening every year | No Member cost | 50% after Plan Deductible |

CICI/Flex/Copay_HDed MUNI/BS 01 (07/2016) Effective Date: 7/2016 PortlandFlexPO259307 FlexPOS-CAL-20-20-0-02 65641668

| OUTPATIENT SERVICES | IN-NETWORK MEMBER PAYS | OUT-OF-NETWORK MEMBER PAYS |
|--|--|-------------------------------|
| On-Line Visit (telemedicine consultation) | \$20 Copayment per visit | 50% after Plan Deductible |
| Primary Care Services (includes services for illness, injury, sickness, follow-up care and consultations) | \$20 Copayment per visit | 50% after Plan Deductible |
| Specialist Services (includes services for illness, injury, sickness, follow-up care and consultations) | \$20 Copayment per visit | 50% after Plan Deductible |
| Gynecological Services | \$20 Copayment per visit | 50% after Plan Deductible |
| Maternity Care Office Visits (Prenatal Care) | No Member cost | 50% after Plan Deductible |
| Allergy Testing | No Member cost | 50% after Plan Deductible |
| Allergy Injections up to 60 visits every two years | No Member cost | 50% after Plan Deductible |
| Laboratory Services (includes services performed in a Hospital or laboratory facility) (Please refer to the provider directory for facility type) | No Member cost | 50% after Plan Deductible |
| Non-Advanced Radiology (includes services performed in a Hospital or radiology facility) | No Member cost | 50% after Plan Deductible |
| Advanced Radiology (includes services for MRI, PET and CAT scan and nuclear cardiology performed in a Hospital or radiology facility) (Please refer to the provider directory for facility type) | No Member cost | 50% after Plan Deductible |
| Outpatient Rehabilitative Therapy up to 60 visits per year (includes services combined for physical, speech, and occupational therapy and chiropractic services) | No Member cost for the first 20 visits \$20 Copayment per visit for 21 – 60 visits | 50% after Plan Deductible |
| Retail Clinic | \$20 Copayment per visit | 50% after Plan Deductible |
| EMERGENCY/URGENT CARE | IN-NETWORK MEMBER PAYS | OUT-OF-NETWORK MEMBER PAYS |
| Walk-in | \$20 Copayment per visit | \$20 Copayment per visit |
| Urgent Care Centers | \$25 Copayment per visit | \$25 Copayment per visit |
| Emergency Room (Copayments waived if admitted) | \$50 Copayment per visit | \$50 Copayment per visit |

CICI/Flex/Copay_HDed MUNI/BS 01 (07/2016) Effective Date: 7/2016 PortlandFlexPO259307 FlexPOS-CAL-20-20-0-02 65641668

| EMERGENCY/URGENT CARE | IN-NETWORK MEMBER PAYS | OUT-OF-NETWORK MEMBER PAYS |
|--|---------------------------|-------------------------------|
| Ambulance Services | No Member cost | No Member cost |
| HOSPITAL SERVICES | IN-NETWORK MEMBER PAYS | OUT-OF-NETWORK MEMBER PAYS |
| Inpatient Hospital Services, Including Room & Board | No Member cost | 50% after Plan Deductible |
| Hospital Outpatient Facilities (includes services performed in a Hospital facility) (Please refer to the provider directory for facility type) | No Member cost | 50% after Plan Deductible |
| Ambulatory Surgical Center (includes services performed in a stand-alone ambulatory facility) (Please refer to the provider directory for facility type) | No Member cost | 50% after Plan Deductible |
| Skilled Nursing Facilities up to 120 days per year | No Member cost | 50% after Plan Deductible |
| Inpatient Rehabilitation up to 60 days per year | No Member cost | 50% after Plan Deductible |
| MENTAL HEALTH SERVICES | IN-NETWORK MEMBER PAYS | OUT-OF-NETWORK MEMBER PAYS |
| Inpatient Mental Health Services (including inpatient acute and residential programs) | No Member cost | 50% after Plan Deductible |
| Inpatient Alcohol and Substance Abuse Treatment (including inpatient acute and residential programs) | No Member cost | 50% after Plan Deductible |
| Outpatient Mental Health, Alcohol and Substance Abuse Treatment (including office visits and professional services provided in the home) | \$20 Copayment per visit | 50% after Plan Deductible |
| Outpatient Mental Health, Alcohol and Substance Abuse Treatment (intensive outpatient treatment and partial hospitalization programs) | No Member cost | 50% after Plan Deductible |

| OTHER SERVICES | IN-NETWORK MEMBER PAYS | OUT-OF-NETWORK MEMBER PAYS |
|---|---------------------------|-----------------------------------|
| Durable Medical Equipment Including Prosthetics and Disposable Medical Supplies | 20% Coinsurance | 50% after Plan Deductible |
| (No Member cost for wigs prescribed by an oncologist for a Member suffering hair loss as a result of chemotherapy or radiation therapy up to one wig per year) | | |
| Diabetic Equipment and Supplies | 20% Coinsurance | 50% after Plan Deductible |
| Nutritional Counseling | No Member cost | 50% after Plan Deductible |
| Home Health Services | No Member cost | 25% after \$50 Benefit Deductible |
| Private Duty Nursing | No Member cost | 50% after Plan Deductible |

PREVENTION AND WELLNESS

In-Network prevention and wellness services as defined by the United States Preventive Service Task Force (listed below) are exempt from all member cost share (deductible, copayment and coinsurance) under the Patient Protection and Affordable Care Act (PPACA). Services that are exempt from cost share must be identified by the specific codes. The codes your health care provider submits must match ConnectiCare's coding list to be exempt from all cost share. Please note that not all preventive services are listed below and that some diagnostic services provided in relation to preventive and wellness services require member cost share. Go to www.connecticate.com/preventive for more information on coverage of preventive care or services.

- Routine physical exam and appropriate screening and counseling for adults (including but not limited to cardiovascular disease, depression, obesity and sexually transmitted infections)
- Preventive care and screenings for infants, children and adolescents supported by the Health Resources and Services Administration (including but not limited to depression, obesity and sexually transmitted infections)
- Preventive care and screenings for women supported by the Health Resources and Services Administration:
 - · At least one well-woman preventive care visit annually to obtain the recommended preventive services
 - · Screening for diabetes during pregnancy, two per pregnancy
 - · Human Papillomavirus (HPV) testing, age 30 or older, one per year
 - · Counseling on sexually transmitted infections for all sexually active women, two per year
 - · Counseling and screening for human immune-deficiency virus (HIV) for all sexually active women
 - Contraceptive methods approved by the Food and Drug administration, sterilization procedures and contraceptive patient education and counseling
 - · Comprehensive lactation support, counseling, a breast pump, (either manual or non-hospital grade electric) and breastfeeding supplies
 - · Screening and counseling for interpersonal and domestic violence for all women and adolescents
- · Bone density screenings, age 60 or older
- · Screening for colorectal cancer using fecal occult blood testing, sigmoidoscopy, or colonoscopy, ages 50 75, one per year
- · Routine mammography screening
- · Immunizations recommended by the Advisory Committee on Immunization Practices of the CDC
- · Outpatient laboratory services:
 - Cervical cancer and cervical dysplasia screening pap smear
 - · Lipid cholesterol screening for adults and children at risk
 - Fasting plasma glucose or hemoglobin A1c
 - · Hematocrit and Hemoglobin, for children up to age 21
 - · Lead screening for children
 - · Tuberculin testing for children
 - · Chlamydia, syphilis and gonorrhea screening for females all ages
 - · Human immunodeficiency virus screening HIV testing
 - · Hypothyroidism screening in newborns, under 3 months of age
 - · Screening for phenylketonuria (PKU) in newborn, under 3 months of age
 - · Screening for sickle cell disease in newborns, under 3 months of age
 - · Hepatitis B screening for adolescents and adults at risk
 - · Hepatitis C screening for adults at risk
- Lung Cancer Screening for adults ages 55 80 who have smoked
- · Routine vision screening up to age 21, one per year when services are rendered by a primary care provider
- · Routine hearing screening up to age 21 when rendered by a primary care provider
- Dental caries prevention up to age 5 when rendered by a primary care provider
- Developmental, autism, and psychosocial/behavioral assessments up to age 21 when rendered by a primary care provider.
- · Dietary counseling for adults with cardiovascular disease, hyperlipidemia or obesity
- Alcohol misuse screening and counseling
- Tobacco cessation interventions
- · Screening for hepatitis B, iron deficient anemia, Rh (D) blood typing and asymptomatic Bacteriuria in women who are pregnant
- · Screening for abdominal aortic aneurysm in men age 65 75 who have ever smoked
- · BRCA screening, genetic counseling and if indicated, genetic testing
- · Physical therapy to prevent falls in adults ages 65 and older

Important Information

- If you have questions regarding your plan, visit our website at www.connecticare.com or call us at (860) 674-5757 or 1-800-251-7722.
- Many services require that you obtain our pre-certification or pre-authorization prior to obtaining care prescribed or rendered by network
 providers or non-participating providers. A reduction will apply if you do not obtain pre-authorization for these specified services. Refer
 to your ConnectiCare Insurance Company, Inc. Certificate of Coverage for more information.
- For mental health, alcohol, and substance abuse services call 1-888-946-4658 to obtain pre-authorization.
- Out-of-Network cost shares are reimbursed at the maximum allowable amount. Members are responsible to pay any charges in excess of this amount. Please refer to your ConnectiCare Insurance Company, Inc. Certificate of Coverage for more information.
- If you are a Massachusetts resident, please refer to your amendatory rider for Massachusetts mandated benefits for additional details of your mandated benefits.
- If you are a Massachusetts resident, this plan along with pharmacy services meets Massachusetts Minimum Creditable Coverage standards for 2016.
- · Your plan is Insured by ConnectiCare Insurance Company, Inc.



Prescription Drug Copayment Plan Benefit Summary

This is a brief summary of your prescription drug benefits. Refer to your Prescription Drug Rider for complete details on benefits, conditions, limitations and exclusions, or consult with your benefits manager. All benefits described below are per member per Calendar year.

Personalized for: Town of Portland (FlexPOS 2)

PRESCRIPTION DRUGS

Covered prescription drugs through retail Participating Pharmacies or our mail order service. Generics are dispensed unless the provider writes Dispense as Written on the prescription.

Your Plan includes the following: Mandatory Drug Substitution, Generic Substitution Program, Tiered Cost-Share Program, and Voluntary Mail Order Program.

| | IN-NETWORK MEMBER PAYS | OUT-OF-NETWORK MEMBER PAYS |
|--|---|--|
| Out-of-Pocket Maximum (Includes a combination of deductible, copayments and coinsurance for health and pharmacy services) | \$6,350 Employee \$12,700 Employee +1 \$12,700 per Family | \$30,000 Employee \$60,000 Employee +1 \$90,000 per Family |
| RETAIL PHARMACY (up to a 30 day supply per prescription, including Specialty Drugs generally delivered by mail) | IN-NETWORK MEMBER PAYS | OUT-OF-NETWORK MEMBER PAYS |
| Tier 1 drugs (Generic Drugs) | \$5 Copayment | 50% Coinsurance |
| Tier 2 drugs (Preferred Brand Drugs) | \$20 Copayment | 50% Coinsurance |
| Tier 3 drugs (Non-Preferred Brand Drugs) | \$30 Copayment | 50% Coinsurance |
| MAIL ORDER PHARMACY (up to a 100 day supply per prescription, does not apply to Specialty Drugs) | IN-NETWORK MEMBER PAYS | OUT-OF-NETWORK MEMBER PAYS |
| Tier 1 drugs (Generic Drugs) | \$10 Copayment | 100% |
| Tier 2 drugs (Preferred Brand Drugs) | \$40 Copayment | 100% |
| Tier 3 drugs (Non-Preferred Brand Drugs) | \$60 Copayment | 100% |

Additional Information

- Under this program covered prescription drugs and supplies are put into categories (i.e., tiers) to designate how they are to be covered and the member's cost-share. The placement of a drug or supply into one of the tiers is determined by the ConnectiCare Pharmacy Services Department and approved by the ConnectiCare Pharmacy & Therapeutics Committee based on the drug's or supply's clinical effectiveness and cost, not on whether it is a generic drug or supply or brand name drug or supply.
- Generic drugs can reduce your out-of-pocket prescription costs. Generics have the same active ingredients as brand name drugs, but usually
 cost much less. So, ask your doctor or pharmacist if a generic alternative is available for your prescription. Also, remember to use a
 participating pharmacy. Most pharmacies in the United States participate in our network. To find one, visit our Web site at
 www.connecticare.com or call our Member Services Department at 1-800-251-7722.
- Certain prescription drugs and supplies require pre-authorization from us before they will be covered under the prescription drug rider.
 You should visit our Web site at www.connecticare.com or call our Member Service Department at 1-800-251-7722 to find out if a prescription drug or supply requires pre-authorization.
- Most Specialty drugs are dispensed through Specialty Pharmacies by mail, up to a 30 day supply. Specialty Pharmacies have the same
 Member Cost Share as all other participating pharmacies and are not part of ConnectiCare's Voluntary Mail Order program. The Member
 Cost Share for Specialty Pharmacy is different from the Cost Share for ConnectiCare's Mail Order program.
- · Always remember to carry your ConnectiCare ID Card.
- If you are a Massachusetts resident, please refer to your amendatory rider for Massachusetts mandated benefits for additional details of your benefits.

APPENDIX B



FlexPOS-CNT-HSA-2000I/4000F-58-Combined Open Access Contract Year Benefit Summary (A)

Point-Of-Service Open Access High Deductible Health Plan (HDHP) for use with a Health Savings Account (HSA)
This is a brief summary of benefits. Refer to your ConnectiCare Insurance Company, Inc Certificate of Coverage for complete details on benefits, conditions, limitations and exclusions, or consult with your benefits manager. All benefits described below are per member per Contract year. A referral from your primary care provider is not required.

The Individual Deductible and Maximum Out-of-Pocket applies if you have coverage only for yourself and not for any dependents. The Family Deductible and Maximum Out-of-Pocket applies if you have coverage for yourself and one or more eligible dependents. In addition, if you have family coverage, any applicable copayments or coinsurance will not apply to services until the total deductible is met for the family, without regard to how much any one family member has met.

Personalized for: Portland BOE - Teachers

| | IN-NETWORK MEMBER PAYS | OUT-OF-NETWORK MEMBER PAYS |
|--|--|--|
| Contract Year Plan Deductible (Deductible is combined for In- and out-of-network health services and prescription drugs) | \$2,000 per Individual \$4,000 per Family | |
| Out-of-Pocket Maximum (Includes a combination of deductible, copayments and coinsurance for health services and pharmacy services) | \$3,000 per Individual \$6,000 per Family | \$4,000 per Individual \$8,000 per Family |
| Out-of-Network Reimbursement | Plan will reimburse the coinsurance per | centage of the Maximum Allowable Amount. |
| Lifetime Maximum Benefit | Unlimited | |
| PREVENTIVE SERVICES (Refer to "Prevention and Wellness" section found at the end of this summary) | IN-NETWORK MEMBER PÅYS | OUT-OF-NETWORK MEMBER PAYS |
| Physical Exam | No Member cost (Plan Deductible waived) | 30% after Plan Deductible |
| Gynecological Preventive Exam | No Member cost (Plan Deductible waived) | 30% after Plan Deductible |
| Preventive Laboratory Services (Complete blood count and Urinalysis) | No Member cost (Plan Deductible waived) | 30% after Plan Deductible |
| Baseline Routine Mammography | No Member cost (Plan Deductible waived) | 30% after Plan Deductible |
| Routine Mammography | No Member cost (Plan Deductible waived) | 30% after Plan Deductible |
| Breast Ultrasound Screening | No Member cost after Plan Deductible | 30% after Plan Deductible |
| Annual Routine Vision Exam (one exam per year when provided by an Optometrist or Ophthalmologist) | No Member cost (Plan Deductible waived) | 30% after Plan Deductible |

CICI/Flex HSA/Copay_coins_combined/MUNI BS 01 (07/2016) Effective Date: 7/2016 PortlandFlexPO260925 FlexPOS-CNT-HSA-2000I/4000F-58-Combined 65642129

| PREVENTIVE SERVICES (Refer to "Prevention and Wellness" section found at the end of this summary) | IN-NETWORK MEMBER PAYS | OUT-OF-NETWORK MEMBER PAYS |
|--|--------------------------------------|-------------------------------|
| Hearing Screenings (one screening every year) | No Member cost | 30% after Plan Deductible |
| OUTPATIENT SERVICES | IN-NETWORK MEMBER PAYS | OUT-OF-NETWORK MEMBER PAYS |
| On-Line Visit (telemedicine consultation) | No Member cost after Plan Deductible | 30% after Plan Deductible |
| Primary Care Services (includes services for illness, injury, sickness, follow-up care and consultations) | No Member cost after Plan Deductible | 30% after Plan Deductible |
| Specialist Services (includes services for illness, injury, sickness, follow-up care and consultations) | No Member cost after Plan Deductible | 30% after Plan Deductible |
| Gynecological Services | No Member cost after Plan Deductible | 30% after Plan Deductible |
| Maternity Care Office Visits (Prenatal Care) | No Member cost | 30% after Plan Deductible |
| Allergy Testing Unlimited | No Member cost after Plan Deductible | 30% after Plan Deductible |
| Allergy Injections Unlimited | No Member cost after Plan Deductible | 30% after Plan Deductible |
| Laboratory Services (includes services performed in a Hospital or laboratory facility) (Please refer to the provider directory for facility type) | No Member cost after Plan Deductible | 30% after Plan Deductible |
| Non-Advanced Radiology (includes services performed in a Hospital or radiology facility) | No Member cost after Plan Deductible | 30% after Plan Deductible |
| Advanced Radiology (includes services for MRI, PET and CAT scan and Nuclear Cardiology performed in a Hospital or radiology facility) (Please refer to the provider directory for facility type) | No Member cost after Plan Deductible | 30% after Plan Deductible |
| Outpatient Rehabilitative Therapy up to 60 visits per year combined with Chiropractic (includes services combined for physical, speech, and occupational therapy and chiropractic services) | No Member cost after Plan Deductible | 30% after Plan Deductible |
| Retail Clinic | No Member cost after Plan Deductible | 30% after Plan Deductible |

| EMERGENCY / URGENT CARE | IN-NETWORK MEMBER PAY | OUT-OF-NETWORK MEMBER PAYS |
|--|--------------------------------------|-------------------------------|
| Walk-In/Urgent Care Centers | No Member cost after Plan Deductible | Same as In-Network Benefit |
| Emergency Room | No Member cost after Plan Deductible | Same as In-Network Benefit |
| Ambulance Services | No Member cost after Plan Deductible | Same as In-Network Benefit |
| HOSPITAL SERVICES | IN-NETWORK MEMBER PAYS | OUT-OF-NETWORK MEMBER PAYS |
| Inpatient Hospital Services, Including Room & Board (includes facility and provider services) | No Member cost after Plan Deductible | 30% after Plan Deductible |
| Hospital Outpatient Facilities (includes services performed in a Hospital facility) (Please refer to the provider directory for facility type) | No Member cost after Plan Deductible | 30% after Plan Deductible |
| Ambulatory Surgical Center (includes services performed in a stand-alone ambulatory facility) (Please refer to the provider directory for facility type) | No Member cost after Plan Deductible | 30% after Plan Deductible |
| Skilled Nursing Facilities up to 100 days per year | No Member cost after Plan Deductible | 30% after Plan Deductible |
| Inpatient Rehabilitation up to 100 days per year | No Member cost after Plan Deductible | 30% after Plan Deductible |
| MENTAL HEALTH SERVICES | IN-NETWORK MEMBER PAYS | OUT-OF-NETWORK MEMBER PAYS |
| Inpatient Mental Health Services (including inpatient acute and residential programs) | No Member cost after Plan Deductible | 30% after Plan Deductible |
| Inpatient Alcohol and Substance Abuse Treatment (including inpatient acute and residential programs) | No Member cost after Plan Deductible | 30% after Plan Deductible |
| Outpatient Mental Health, Alcohol and Substance Abuse Treatment (including office visits and professional services provided in the home) | No Member cost after Plan Deductible | 30% after Plan Deductible |
| Outpatient Mental Health, Alcohol and Substance Abuse Treatment (intensive outpatient treatment and partial hospitalization programs) | No Member cost after Plan Deductible | 30% after Plan Deductible |

| OTHER SERVICES | IN-NETWORK MEMBER PAYS | OUT-OF-NETWORK MEMBER PAYS | | |
|--|--------------------------------------|-------------------------------|--|--|
| Durable Medical Equipment Including Prosthetics and Disposable Medical Supplies | No Member cost after Plan Deductible | 30% after Plan Deductible | | |
| (Includes Wigs prescribed by an oncologist for Member suffering hair loss as a result of chemotherapy or radiation therapy up to one wig per year) | | | | |
| Diabetic Equipment and Supplies | No Member cost after Plan Deductible | 30% after Plan Deductible | | |
| Nutritional Counseling (Limit 3 visits per year) | No Member cost after Plan Deductible | 30% after Plan Deductible | | |
| Home Health Services up to 100 visits per year | No Member cost after Plan Deductible | 25% after Plan Deductible | | |

PREVENTION AND WELLNESS

In-Network prevention and wellness services as defined by the United States Preventive Service Task Force (listed below) are exempt from all member cost share (deductible, copayment and coinsurance) under the Patient Protection and Affordable Care Act (PPACA). Services that are exempt from cost share must be identified by the specific codes. The codes your health care provider submits must match ConnectiCare's coding list to be exempt from all cost share. Please note that not all preventive services are listed below and that some diagnostic services provided in relation to preventive and wellness services require member cost share. Go to www.connecticare.com/preventive for more information on coverage of preventive care or services.

- Routine physical exam and appropriate screening and counseling for adults (including but not limited to cardiovascular disease, depression, obesity and sexually transmitted infections)
- Preventive care and screenings for infants, children and adolescents supported by the Health Resources and Services Administration (including but not limited to depression, obesity and sexually transmitted infections)
- · Preventive care and screenings for women supported by the Health Resources and Services Administration:
 - · At least one well-woman preventive care visit annually to obtain the recommended preventive services
 - · Screening for diabetes during pregnancy, two per pregnancy
 - · Human Papillomavirus (HPV) testing, age 30 or older, one per year
 - · Counseling on sexually transmitted infections for all sexually active women, two per year
 - · Counseling and screening for human immune-deficiency virus (HIV) for all sexually active women
 - Contraceptive methods approved by the Food and Drug administration, sterilization procedures and contraceptive patient education and counseling
 - · Comprehensive lactation support, counseling, a breast pump, (either manual or non-hospital grade electric), and breastfeeding supplies
 - · Screening and counseling for interpersonal and domestic violence for all women and adolescents
- · Bone density screenings, age 60 or older
- · Screening for colorectal cancer using fecal occult blood testing, sigmoidoscopy, or colonoscopy, ages 50 75, one per year
- · Routine Mammography Screening
- · Immunizations recommended by the Advisory Committee on Immunization Practices of the CDC
- · Outpatient Laboratory Services:
 - · Cervical cancer and cervical dysplasia screening pap smear
 - · Lipid cholesterol screening for adults and children at risk
 - · Fasting plasma glucose or hemoglobin A1c
 - · Hematocrit and Hemoglobin for children up to age 21
 - · Lead screening for children
 - · Tuberculin testing for children
 - ° Chlamydia, syphilis and gonorrhea screening for females all ages
 - Human immunodeficiency virus screening HIV testing
 - · Hypothyroidism screening in newborns, under 3 months of age
 - O Screening for phenylketonuria (PKU) in newborns, under 3 months of age
 - Screening for sickle cell disease in newborns, under 3 months of age
 - · Hepatitis B screening for adolescents and adults at risk
 - · Hepatitis C screening for adults at risk
 - Lung Cancer Screening for adults ages 55 80 who have smoked
- · Routine vision screening up to age 21, one per year when services are rendered by a primary care provider
- · Routine hearing screening up to age 21 when rendered by a primary care provider
- · Dental caries prevention up to age 5 when rendered by a primary care provider
- · Developmental, autism, and psychosocial/behavioral assessments up to age 21 when rendered by a primary care provider
- · Dietary counseling for adults with cardiovascular disease, hyperlipidemia or obesity
- · Alcohol misuse screening and counseling
- · Tobacco cessation interventions
- · Screening for hepatitis B, iron deficient anemia, Rh (D) blood typing and asymptomatic Bacteriuria in women who are pregnant.
- Screening for abdominal aortic aneurysm in men age 65 75 who have ever smoked
- · BRCA screening, genetic counseling and if indicated, genetic testing
- · Physical therapy to prevent falls in adults ages 65 and older

Important Information

- If you have questions regarding your plan, visit our website at www.connecticare.com or call us at (860) 674-5757 or 1-800-251-7722.
- Many services require that you obtain our pre-certification or pre-authorization prior to obtaining care prescribed or rendered by network
 providers or non-participating providers. A reduction will apply if you do not obtain pre-authorization for these specified services. Refer
 to your ConnectiCare Insurance Company, Inc. Certificate of Coverage for more information.
- For mental health, alcohol, and substance abuse services call 1-888-946-4658 to obtain pre-authorization.
- Out-of-Network cost shares are reimbursed at the maximum allowable amount. Members are responsible to pay any charges in excess of
 this amount. Please refer to your ConnectiCare Insurance Company, Inc. Certificate of Coverage for more information.
- If you are a Massachusetts resident, please refer to your amendatory rider for Massachusetts mandated benefits for additional details of your mandated benefits.
- If you are a Massachusetts resident, this plan along with pharmacy services meets Massachusetts Minimum Creditable Coverage standards for 2016.
- · Your plan is Insured by ConnectiCare Insurance Company, Inc.



FlexPOS Combined Deductible Prescription Drug Plan for Use with Health Savings Account (HSA) Benefit Summary

This is a brief summary of your prescription drug benefits. Refer to your Prescription Drug Rider for complete details on benefits, conditions, limitations and exclusions, or consult with your benefits manager. All benefits described below are per member per Contract year.

Personalized for: Portland BOE - Teachers

PRESCRIPTION DRUGS

Covered prescription drugs through retail Participating Pharmacies or our mail order service. Generics are dispensed unless the Member pays the Generic Cost-Share plus the difference in price between the Generic Equivalent and the Brand Name Drug.

Your Plan includes the following: Mandatory Drug Substitution, Generic Substitution Program, Tiered Cost-Share Program, and Voluntary Mail Order Program.

| | IN-NETWORK MEMBER PAYS | OUT-OF-NETWORK MEMBER PAYS | | |
|---|--------------------------------------|---|--|--|
| Contract Year Plan Deductible (combined for IN- and Out-of-Network prescription drug benefits) | \$2,000 Individual \$4,000 Family | | | |
| Out-of-Pocket Maximum (Includes a combination of deductible, copayments and coinsurance for health and pharmacy services) | \$3,000 Individual \$6,000 Family | \$4,000 Individual \$8,000 Family | | |
| Out-of-Network Reimbursement | Not Applicable | Plan will reimburse the coinsurance percentage of the Maximum Allowable Amount. OUT-OF-NETWORK MEMBER PAYS 30% after Plan Deductible 30% after Plan Deductible | | |
| RETAIL PHARMACY (up to a 30 day supply per prescription, including Specialty Drugs generally delivered by mail) | IN-NETWORK MEMBER PAYS | | | |
| Tier 1 drugs (Generic Drugs) | \$5 Copayment after Plan Deductible | | | |
| Tier 2 drugs (Preferred Brand Drugs) | \$25 Copayment after Plan Deductible | | | |
| Tier 3 drugs (Non-Preferred Brand Drugs) | \$40 Copayment after Plan Deductible | | | |
| MAIL ORDER PHARMACY (up to a 90 day supply per prescription, does not apply to Specialty Drugs) | IN-NETWORK MEMBER PAYS | OUT-OF-NETWORK MEMBER PAYS | | |
| Tier 1 drugs (Generic Drugs) | \$10 Copayment after Plan Deductible | 100% | | |
| Tier 2 drugs (Preferred Brand Drugs) | \$50 Copayment after Plan Deductible | 100% | | |

| MAIL ORDER PHARMACY (up to a 90 day supply per prescription, does not apply to Specialty Drugs) | IN-NETWORK MEMBER PAYS | OUT-OF-NETWORK MEMBER PAYS |
|--|--------------------------------------|-------------------------------|
| Tier 3 drugs (Non-Preferred Brand Drugs) | \$80 Copayment after Plan Deductible | 100% |

Additional Information

- Under this program covered prescription drugs and supplies are put into categories (i.e., tiers) to designate how they are to be covered and
 the member's cost-share. The placement of a drug or supply into one of the tiers is determined by the ConnectiCare Pharmacy Services
 Department and approved by the ConnectiCare Pharmacy & Therapeutics Committee based on the drug's or supply's clinical effectiveness
 and cost, not on whether it is a generic drug or supply or brand name drug or supply.
- Generic drugs can reduce your out-of-pocket prescription costs. Generics have the same active ingredients as brand name drugs, but usually
 cost much less. So, ask your doctor or pharmacist if a generic alternative is available for your prescription. Also, remember to use a
 participating pharmacy. Most pharmacies in the United States participate in our network. To find one, visit our Web site at
 www.connecticare.com or call our Member Services Department at 1-800-251-7722.
- Amounts paid by members because they must pay a price difference for a brand name drug do not count towards meeting any deductible, coinsurance, copayment, or cost share maximum.
- Certain prescription drugs and supplies require pre-authorization from us before they will be covered under the prescription drug rider.
 You should visit our Web site at www.connecticare.com or call our Member Services Department at 1-800-251-7722 to find out if a prescription drug or supply requires pre-authorization.
- Most Specialty drugs are dispensed through Specialty Pharmacies by mail, up to 30 day supply. Specialty Pharmacies have the same Member
 Cost Share as all other participating pharmacies and are not part of ConnectiCare's Voluntary Mail Order program. The Member Cost Share
 for Specialty Pharmacy is different from the Cost Share for ConnectiCare's Mail Order program.
- · Always remember to carry your ConnectiCare ID Card.
- If you are a Massachusetts resident, please refer to your amendatory rider for Massachusetts mandated benefits for additional details of your benefits.

APPENDIX C

Fact Sheet Detail

Page 1 of 2

Anthem. 4.V.

Employer/Group: PORTLAND: TOWN AND BOARD OF EDUCATION

Firm Division: 002264628 - TOWN SEIU/MEUI LIBRARY FLEX DENTAL ACTIVE

DENTAL FLEX

| Description of Benefits | You Pay: |
|---|-------------------------------|
| Annual Deductible (individual/family) | Does not Apply/Does not Apply |
| Annual Maximum (per member per calendar year) | UNLIMITED |
| Lifetime Orthodontic Maximum (per member) | Does not Apply |

Diagnostic & Preventive Services

| - Periodic evaluations | - Emergency Palliative treatment | |
|---------------------------------|---|-----------|
| - Initial evaluation | - Fillings | |
| - Cleanings, 2 per year | - Repairing and relining of dentures | |
| - Fluoride treatments to age 19 | Endodontics including but not limited to root canal therapy | No Charge |
| - Space maintainers to age 19 | - Simple and surgical extractions | |
| - X-rays | | |

Basic Services

| - Repair Bridge | - Recement bridge | |
|------------------|----------------------|------------------------|
| - Oral surgery | - General anesthesia | 50%, deductible waived |
| - Recement crown | | |

Major Services

| - Crowns | - Onlays | 50%, deductible waived |
|----------|----------|------------------------|
| - Inlays | | |

Accessing Benefits:

Participating Dentists Benefits: When a member receives care from one of our participating Dentists, he or she simply presents his or her identification card showing dental coverage. The dentist bills us directly for all covered services. For dental care provided by a Participating Dentist, we will pay the lesser of Dentist's usual charge or maximum allowable amount as determined by Anthem BCBS. The participating Dentist will accept Anthem BCBS's payment in full and make no additional charge to the member, except as otherwise specified in the member's certificate of coverage.

Non-Participating Dentists Benefits: Anthem BCBS will pay the maximum allowable amount as determined by Anthem BCBS. The member is responsible for any difference between the amount paid by Anthem BCBS and the fee charged by the Dentist.

Dental claims should be submitted to Anthem BCBS Dental, P.O.Box 547, North Haven CT 06473.

Principle Limitations and Exclusions

Services received from a dental or medical department maintained by an employer, a mutual benefit association, labor union, trustee or other similar person or group; Services for which the member incurs no Dentists' Charge or which are services of a type ordinarily performed by a physician, or charges which would not have been made if insurance was not available; Services with respect to congenital malformations; Services, treatment or supplies furnished by or at the direction of any government, state or political subdivision; Any items not specifically listed in this Policy; Lost or stolen

Fact Sheet Detail Page 2 of 2

dentures or denture duplication; Gold foil restorations; Temporary services and appliances; such as crown or tooth preparations and temporary fillings, crowns, bridges and dentures; Application of sealants, regardless of reason; Services as determined by the company, that are rendered in a manner contrary to normal dental practice. A complete list of exclusions appears in the Certificate of Coverage.

This is not a legal policy or contract. It is only a general description of your benefits. If there are discrepancies between the Certificate of Coverage and this summary, the Certificate of Coverage shall control.

September 25, 2013

50%, deductible waived

Anthem. 400.

Employer/Group: PORTLAND: TOWN AND BOARD OF EDUCATION

Firm Division: 002264605 - TOWN HOUSING AUTHORITY FLEX W/ORTHO ACTIVE

DENTAL FLEX

| Description of Benefits | | You Pay: | |
|--|-----------------------------------|------------------------|--|
| Annual Deductible (individual/family) | | \$50.00/\$150.00 | |
| Annual Maximum (per member per calendar year) | | \$1,500.00 | |
| Lifetime Orthodontic Maximum <i>(per memi</i> | per) | \$1,500.00 | |
| Diagnostic & Preventive Service | es . | | |
| - Periodic evaluations | - Space maintainers to age 19 | | |
| - Initial evaluation | - X-rays | No Chassa | |
| - Cleanings, 2 per year | - Emergency Palliative treatment | No Charge | |
| - Fluoride treatments to age 19 | | | |
| Basic Services | | · | |
| - Fillings | - Simple and surgical extractions | | |
| - Repair Bridge | - Recement crown | | |
| - Repairing and relining of dentures | - Recement bridge | | |
| - Endodontics including but not limited | ű | 20%, after deductible | |
| to root canal therapy | - General anesthesia | | |
| - Oral surgery | | | |
| 3.6 | , | | |
| Major Services | | | |
| Prosthodontics including but not limited to bridework. | Onlovo | | |
| partial and full dentures | - Onlays | 50%, after deductible | |
| - Crowns | - Post and core | 50 %, after deductible | |
| - Inlays | - Periodontics | | |
| | | | |
| Orthodontic Services (child to | age 19) | | |
| - Non-surgical dental services related to | To other weight and a | | |
| the supervision, guidance and correction | - Tooth guidance | | |

Accessing Benefits:

of growing or mature teeth

- Examination

Records

Participating Dentists Benefits: When a member receives care from one of our participating Dentists, he or she simply presents his or her identification card showing dental coverage. The dentist bills us directly for all covered services. For dental care provided by a Participating Dentist, we will pay the lesser of Dentist's usual charge or maximum allowable amount as determined by Anthem BCBS. The participating Dentist will accept Anthem BCBS's payment in full and make no additional charge to the member, except as otherwise specified in the member's certificate of coverage.

- Repositioning (straightening)

of the teeth

Fact Sheet Detail Page 2 of 2

Non-Participating Dentists Benefits: Anthem BCBS will pay the maximum allowable amount as determined by Anthem BCBS. The member is responsible for any difference between the amount paid by Anthem BCBS and the fee charged by the Dentist.

Dental claims should be submitted to Anthem BCBS Dental, P.O.Box 547, North Haven CT 06473.

Principle Limitations and Exclusions

Services received from a dental or medical department maintained by an employer, a mutual benefit association, labor union, trustee or other similar person or group; Services for which the member incurs no Dentists' Charge or which are services of a type ordinarily performed by a physician, or charges which would not have been made if insurance was not available; Services with respect to congenital malformations; Services, treatment or supplies furnished by or at the direction of any government, state or political subdivision; Any items not specifically listed in this Policy; Lost or stolen dentures or denture duplication; Gold foil restorations; Temporary services and appliances; such as crown or tooth preparations and temporary fillings, crowns, bridges and dentures; Application of sealants, regardless of reason; Services as determined by the company, that are rendered in a manner contrary to normal dental practice. A complete list of exclusions appears in the Certificate of Coverage.

This is not a legal policy or contract. It is only a general description of your benefits. If there are discrepancies between the Certificate of Coverage and this summary, the Certificate of Coverage shall control.

September 25, 2013

APPENDIX D

| | Step 1 | Step 2 | Step 3 | Step 4 | Step 5 | Step 6 |
|-------------------------------|-------------|-------------------|-------------------------|--------|--------|--------|
| Library Assistant I | | | | | | |
| 7/1/16-6/30/17 | | | | | | |
| 2.5% | 15.21 | 15.58 | 15.98 | 16.39 | 16.80 | 17.20 |
| 7/1/17-6/30/18 | | | | | | |
| 2.0% | 15.51 | 15.89 | 16.30 | 16.72 | 17.14 | 17.54 |
| 7/1/18-6/30/19 | | | | | | |
| 2.0% | 15.82 | 16.21 | 16.63 | 17.05 | 17.48 | 17.89 |
| Library Assistant II | | | | | | |
| 7/1/16-6/30/17 | | | | | | |
| 2.5% | 17.72 | 18.16 | 18.60 | 19.09 | 19.55 | 20.04 |
| 7/1/17-6/30/18 | | | | | | |
| 2.0% | 18.07 | 18.52 | 18.97 | 19.47 | 19.94 | 20.44 |
| 7/1/18-6/30/19 | | | | | | |
| 2.0% | 18.43 | 18.89 | 19.35 | 19.86 | 20.34 | 20.85 |
| Library Associate I (Youth Se | rvices Assi | istant) | | | | |
| 7/1/17-6/30/18 | | , | | | | |
| New position, 7/1/17 | 21.18 | 21.73 | 22.29 | 22.82 | 23.40 | 23.99 |
| 7/1/18-6/30/19 | | | | | | |
| 2.0% | 21.60 | 22.16 | 22.74 | 23.28 | 23.87 | 24.47 |
| Library Associate II | | | | | | |
| 7/1/16-6/30/17 | | | | | | |
| 2.5% | 21.71 | 22.27 | 22.85 | 23.39 | 23.99 | 24.59 |
| 7/1/17-6/30/18 | | | \$1.50 at ea | | 2000 | 2 |
| 2.0% | 23.64 | 24.22 | 24.81 | 25.36 | 25.97 | 26.58 |
| 7/1/18-6/30/19 | | | 2 | 20.00 | 2007 | 20.00 |
| 2.0% | 24.11 | 24.70 | 25.31 | 25.87 | 26.49 | 27.11 |
| Librarian I | 21111 | 24.70 | 23,31 | 25.07 | 20.47 | 27.11 |
| 7/1/16-6/30/17 | | | | | | |
| 2.5% | 24.38 | 25.01 | 25.61 | 26.25 | 26.92 | 27.59 |
| 7/1/17-6/30/18 | | | 25.01 \$0.50 at ea | | 20.72 | 27.07 |
| 2.0% | 25.37 | 26.01 | 26.62 | 27.28 | 27.96 | 28.64 |
| 7/1/18-6/30/19 | 23.37 | 20.01 | 20.02 | 41.40 | 27.70 | 20.04 |
| 2.0% | 25.88 | 26.53 | 27.15 | 27.83 | 28.52 | 29.21 |
| Librarian II | 23.00 | 20.33 | 27.13 | 27.03 | 20.52 | 27.21 |
| 7/1/16-6/30/17 | | | | | | |
| 2.5% | 26.54 | 27.20 | 27.88 | 28.56 | 29.28 | 30.02 |
| 7/1/17-6/30/18 | | | 27.00 l \$0.50 at e | | 47.40 | 30.04 |
| 2.0% | 27.57 | 28.24 | 28.94 | 29.63 | 30.37 | 31.12 |
| 7/1/18-6/30/19 | 41.31 | 40.4 4 | 40.7 4 | 47.03 | 30.37 | 31,12 |
| | 20 12 | 20 00 | 20.52 | 20.22 | 20.00 | 21 74 |
| 2.0% | 28.12 | 28.80 | 29.52 | 30.22 | 30.98 | 31.74 |